IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WADADA DELHALL,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
V.)	
)	CASE NO. SC09-87
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	L.T. NO. F01-37081
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INTIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida

MELODEE A. SMITH Florida Bar No. 33121

LAW OFFICES OF MELODEE A. SMITH 101 NE 3rd Ave. Suite 1500 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel: (954) 522.9297 Fax: (954) 522.9298

MSmith@SmithCriminalDefense.com

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Wadada Delhall ("Wadada"), was the Defendant in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("State"), was the Plaintiff.

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R" followed the appropriate volume and corresponding page number(s).

References to the Trial Transcript will be designated by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate record volume, followed by the symbol "T" followed by the corresponding transcript page number(s).

References to the Supplemental Record on Appeal, consisting of additional trial transcripts, will be designated by the symbol "R Supp" followed the appropriate volume number; followed by the corresponding page number(s).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the judgment and sentence of a trial court imposing the death penalty. Article V, $\S 3(b)(1)$, Florida Constitution; Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 29, 2001, Hubert McCrae died after being shot in front of his business, Ray's Auto Repair, at 2143 Opa-Locka Blvd., in Miami. R 121 T 1063. Wadada Delhall ("Wadada") was indicted for first-degree murder, use of a firearm in a felony, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R 1 45-46.

The State's opening statement began: "Kill the witness, set your brother free." R 121 T 1032. The defense objected, renewing its pretrial *Williams* rule objection to introduction of extensive evidence from the trial of Wadada's brother, Negus Delhall, concerning the 1998 shooting death of Gilbert Bennett. Id.; R 2 371. Later in the State's opening, after extended discussion of Negus' case, the defense objected: "The Negus Delhall case has been a feature of this case." R 121 T 1038.

Miami-Dade Officer Hufnagel testified he got to the crime scene at 6:53 pm, and that, as he lay shot and dying, McCrae told him the person who shot him was "the brother of the guy who shot the man who owned the business before," R 121 T 1081, and described the shooter's vehicle as a small gray Mazda. R 121 T 1070.

Fred Williams, working on an automobile at a nearby shop, heard several shots and looked up to see where they were coming from. R 124 T 1434. Williams

said the shots were coming from the direction of Ray's Auto Shop. R 124 T 1435. Williams saw a car pull up and a man get out and go into Ray's. R 124 T 1449. A man exited Ray's with a gun and entered a small white car with tinted windows on the passenger side, firing one more shot. R 124 T 1436, 1438, 1443. The man also fired a shot after the car started to drive off. R 124 T 1440. Though Williams did not see the man's face, he described him as 5'11", slim, with a brown complexion, wearing a long sleeved shirt, light colored belt and jeans. R 124 T 1436-1438.

Rolando Rodriquez, at a nearby shop, heard six shots, R 124 T 1452-1454, and hid behind the car he was fixing, seeing an old Mazda coming from where the shots were fired, moving south. He then heard another shot. R 124 T 1456-1459.

Hubert McCrae had been an eyewitness to a different homicide: the shooting death of Gilbert Bennett, killed in 1998 at the same address where McCrae had now been shot and killed. In 1998, McCrae had identified Wadada's brother, Negus Delhall, ("Negus"), as the shooter. R 121 T 1188. Negus had been arrested, charged and held in jail awaiting trial when McCrae was shot. R 123 T 1415.

At Wadada's trial, the State presented extensive evidence concerning the Bennett homicide, along with the investigation of McCrae's murder:

Miami-Dade Crime Scene Officer Chavez testified that he investigated the Gilbert Bennett (Richie B) shooting in 1998. R 121 T 1176. When the State sought to introduce Chavez' sketches and testimony about the Bennett crime scene, the trial court overruled the defense's "objection based on previous *Williams* rule issue. I believe this goes directly to Negus Delhall's issue." R 121 T 1177.

Chavez described the Bennett crime scene in detail. R 121 T 1177-1184. When the State tendered a photograph of Bennett's lifeless body after paramedics had failed to revive him, the defense asserted a continuing *Williams* rule objection. R 121 T 1180. When the State introduced latent fingerprints from the Bennett scene, the defense continued its *Williams* rule objection. R 121 T 1184. Chavez said latent prints, lifted by another person at the Bennett scene, R 121 T 1186-87, were identified by yet another person as belonging to Negus, R 121 T 1188-89, and the defense added hearsay to its *Williams* rule objection. R 121 T 1189.

The State called Negus' *Arthur* hearing attorney from the Bennett case, Paul Gerson, who did not recall ever showing McCrae's Affidavit naming Negus as the shooter, to anyone in Negus' family. R 123 T 1349, 1308-09. Public defender Howard Lubel, said he was not prepared to try Negus' case in 2001. R 130 T 2316.

Detective Hoadley interviewed McCrae about Bennett's killing, and he described the shooter, R 123 T 1291-94, picking Negus from a photo lineup. R 123 T 1297. Hoadley testified at the *Arthur* hearing when Negus was denied bond. Id.

The State introduced McCrae's Affidavit identifying Negus as Bennett's killer over hearsay and *Williams* rule objections. R 123 T 1307. Hoadley said he was told McCrae was murdered, R 123 T 1314; went to Ray's looking for witnesses, R 123 T 1314-15; and Stewart Notice said Erwin Bruce saw Bennett's shooting. R 123 T 1327-1329, 1331. Hoadley said Clarence Gooden, a lunch truck driver in the area, was willing to talk with him about the case. R 123 T 1314-15.

Clarence Gooden told Wadada's jury that he witnessed the Bennett killing, R 123 T 1364, describing the shooting in detail, and how he saw Bennett "lying on the ground in a pool of blood." R 123 T 1367. He parked at Ray's, heard shots and saw someone he had seen before, but did not know, exit, look at him and leave. Bennett lay on the floor "in a pool of blood." R 123 T 1361, 1366-1367. While he did not want to get involved, Bruce and others got his name and had a discussion in front of him, warning him not to talk. Gooden first testified Wadada was present,

R 123 T 1369-1370,¹ but was told only after "the homicide" who Wadada was. The trial court noted: "You need to specify which homicide." R 123 T 1375-1376.

Miami-Dade Crime Scene Investigator Garrido said he arrived at Ray's Auto in the dark. McCrae lay between a vehicle and the door. R 121 T 1105. Garrido took photos as Chavez collected projectiles. R 121 T 1133. Garrido was unable to lift any fingerprints, R 121 T 1168; was not told the type of car the shooter drove, R 121 T 1161; was unaware two guns were used, R 121 T 1144; saw nothing at the scene showing a .38 caliber was fired, and that the shell casings at the scene were from three manufacturers: Federal[®], Wolf[®] and Remington[®]. R 121 T 1170, 1172.

Miami-Dade Criminalist Hertel said he reviewed the file concluding that two guns were used to kill McCrae. R 128 T 2011, 2032. Hertel, a firearm and tool mark examiner, R 128 T 2011, 2032, said that, while he could not be certain, he believed the shell casings and projectiles at the crime scene were all fired from a *single* .9 mm or .38 caliber weapon, R 128 T 2037, 2050-2052; that different brands of shell casings were found at the scene, R 128 T 2037; and that the unspent cartridge from a book bag said to belong to Wadada was made by a different manufacturer than the eleven shell casings found at the crime scene. R 128 T 2058.

¹ On cross, Gooden said he did not know who the third person was. R 123 T 1380.

In 2001, Marcia Berry was dating Wadada, whom she called "Wads." R 124 T 1475. Berry had a Mazda Protégé, and recognized a photo of it. R 124 T 1477. She described the car's color as "sand," and said the tint was fading as the car was old. R 124 T 1478, 1479. Berry owned the car with her sister, Doris, who rarely used it. R 124 T 1479. She allowed Wadada to drive her car and helped him get an apartment in Pembroke Pines. R 124 T 1481. Wadada drove Berry to and from work. R 124 T 1482. On November 29, 2001, Berry testified that she left work at 3:00 p.m. and was picked up by Wadada and his brother, Ativa, who was driving. R 124 T 1483. She testified that they went to Berry's aunt's house as they planned to go shopping, R 124 T 1485, but decided not to go as it was getting late. R 124 T 1487. Berry was left at her apartment, R 124 T 1489, staying home to set up her printer. R 124 T 1491. Berry next saw Wadada at 10:00, 11:00, or 12:00 p.m. that night, R 124 T 1493, when Berry called saying she was hungry. R 124 T 1492. Wadada took her to Checkers to get something to eat before they closed at 11:00 or 12:00 p.m. R 124 T 1494.

Police spoke to Berry on December 5, 2001, taking a statement. R 124 T 1494. Berry and her sister, Doris, signed rights waivers and consent to search their apartment, R 124 T 1497, as well as the Mazda. R 124 T 1498. Berry never kept

ammunition in her car or book bag, and had no idea why a cartridge was found in her car. R 124 T 1499. After the police visit, Berry stopped seeing Wadada. R 124 T 1499. She said she had loved Wadada, that Wadada had acted as a father and brother to his youngest brother, Pepe, R 124 T 1505, and had been taking care of his brothers from his late teens until she became involved with him. R 124 T 1506.

On December 5, 2001, Berry called Wadada to pick her up early from work. Police were at Wadada's house and said she could not speak to him. R 124 T 1512. Police said they were taking Berry's car and she said she had no ride home. R 124 T 1512. Police picked Berry up from her job at American Express, in Plantation. R 124 T 1510, and took her home, where they remained from 2:00 pm to 8:30 pm, R 124 T 1516, questioning her without telling her about the McCrae murder, except to say they had Wadada in for questioning. Police took Berry to the homicide division and interviewed her before a court reporter. R 124 T 1516-1517.

Berry said Wadada and Ativa were not getting along. She saw more of the younger brother, Pepe, who lived with Wadada. R 124 T 1518. Berry testified that Ativa drove her and Wadada to her aunt's house on November 29, 2001, but did not recall who drove as they returned to her apartment. R 124 T 1526. Her

recollection was based on a review of her December 5, 2001 statement to police. R 124 T 1528.

Ms. Berry did not think it was any of her business what Wadada did when he was not with her. R 124 T 1532. She knew he was on probation, but did not know why. R 124 T 1531. When the prosecutor asked Berry, "[D]id you know he was a convicted felon for carrying a concealed firearm?" the defense objected and moved for a mistrial, R 124 T 1531, and the trial Court denied the motion. R 124 T 1554.

Berry was not sure what time Detective Bayas picked her up at work, but she had waited quite a while. R 124 T 1534. Berry said Detective Bayas questioned her at her apartment along with Sergeant Rayborn. R 124 T 1536. Berry said she was questioned about the car and how she met Wadada, but was unsure whether this was at her home or the police station. R 124 T 1537. Wadada had told Berry he worked at a car wash in Opa-Locka. R 124 T 1539. Berry testified that she did not see Wadada and Ativa fighting or arguing November 29, 2001. R 124 T 1540. Wadada used Berry's car as often as he liked, as long as she was not using it. R 124 T 1540.

Berry was not with Wadada all night November 29, 2001, R 124 T 1543; she did not try to give Wadada an alibi, R 124 T 1543; and if she knew he was wanted

for murder, she would not have lied. R 124 T 1543. Berry did not recall speaking to Wadada at the station, R 124 T 1545, and did not recall going to the Miami Dade County Jail with Wadada November 27, 2001, to visit Negus. R 124 T 1546. Berry testified Wadada never asked her for an alibi, R 124 T 1547, and said she did not know when McCrae was murdered, or even who he was. R 124 T 1548.

Thomas Charles, a since retired Miami-Dade Police Officer, R 125 T 1650, stated that on December 5, 2001, he went to Apartment 207, at 10640 Washington Street, in Pembroke Pines, and was met by Detective Bayas from homicide. R 125 T 1654. He photographed the apartment and Mazda Protégé, R 125 T 1654, and placed seals on the car, R 125 T 1659-60, before being towed to Two Can Towing. R 125 T 1655. The next day, Charles photographed Wadada, R 125 T 1658, and visited Two Can Towing to search the Mazda. The seals Charles had placed on the car the day before were all intact. R 125 T 1659-60. Charles described items found in the Mazda, R 125 T 1661, as the trial court overruled the defense's continuing objection to admitting evidence from the car, R 125 T 1661, as well as a receipt for a payment relating to Wadada's probation. R 125 T 1662. Charles said he also found an application for a job bearing the name "Wadada Delhall." R 125 T 1666.

Charles found a blue book bag in the car's right rear, R 125 T 1672, with a receipt bearing the name "Wadada Delhall." R 125 T 1672. A black book bag in the backseat bore records and a .9 mm cartridge. R 125 T 1673-74. The defense reasserted a continuing objection to the fruits of the Mazda's search. R 125 T 1674. The cartridge was made by Winchester®. R 125 T 1676. The Mazda was dusted for prints, R 125 T 1677-78, but not tested for gunshot residue as Charles was not told to do so and because the car had been exposed to the elements. R 125 T 1682.

Miami-Dade Latent Fingerprint Examiner Nikolov, R 125 T 1685, reviewed the work of Michael Collier, a former examiner at the department. R 125 T 1687. Collier had examined two paper items, one a job application, and found no prints. R 125 T 1688. Collier had also examined the shell casings dusted for prints, which Nikolov reviewed, R 125 T 1688, and did not find it unusual to find no prints on shell casings, as heat created as they are fired often destroys prints. R 125 T 1688.

Of the latents Collier processed, only State's Exhibit #125, from the Mazda, had value, matching Wadada's right palm. R 125 T 1689. Nikolov rolled Wadada's prints in court and they matched Exhibit #125. R 125 T 1690. Nikolov agreed Collier had misidentified a latent print, but later said it was not a mistake, as it was of very low quality. R 125 T 1692-1693. The latent matching Wadada was from

the Mazda's right front door. R 125 T 1694. Nikolov said Collier was not mistaken this time, as the latent was verified by another examiner. R 125 T 1695. After Nikolov reviewed Collier's work, another examiner re-compared the latent print with Wadada's standard fingerprint card. R 125 T 1698-99.

On November 29, 2001, Miami-Dade Detective Bayas arrived at the McCrae crime scene. R 125 T 1573. He interviewed Fred Williams and took his sworn statement. R 125 T 1575. He returned to the scene on November 30, 2001, canvassing the area, R 125 T 1576, without any substantial leads. R 125 T 1576.

Bayas assisted Detective Butchko in finding Wadada, R 125 T 1576, and, on December 5, 2001, went to Apartment 207, 10640 Washington Street, in Pembroke Pines, looking for him. R 125 T 1579. When Tiese Caldwell answered the door, Bayas, Butchko, and Sergeant Rayborn all entered the apartment. R 125 T 1580.

When Bayas testified that Butchko had interviewed Caldwell, the defense hearsay objection was overruled. R 125 T 1581. Bayas said Caldwell told Butchko no one else was in the apartment besides her children, R 125 T 1581-82; that he heard a rustling sound and went into the bedroom, opened a closet door, looked inside saw someone. R 125 T 1583-84. Bayas ordered the person out of closet and

restrained him. The defense asserted a continuing objection based on its pretrial motion to suppress the fruits of Wadada's illegal seizure and arrest. R 125 T 1586.

Detective Bayas was then permitted to testify that Wadada had told him that he was hiding in the closet because he was on probation. R 125 T 1595.

According to Bayas, Wadada was not yet under arrest. R 125 T 1596. Bayas said he handed Caldwell a consent-to-search form which she signed. R 125 T 1596. The defense objection to admission of evidence obtained from the search and seizure at the apartment, as asserted in its pretrial motion to suppress, was overruled. Bayas said he gave Wadada a consent-to-search form, which he signed without asking about the form, though he seemed to understand. R 125 T 1600-01. The search yielded nothing of evidentiary value. R 125 T 1605.

A four door Mazda Protégé was parked at the stairwell, R 125 T 1602, which Bayas found was registered to Berry. R 125 T 1605. Bayas contacted Berry and offered to pick her up at work. R 125 T 1605. Bayas and Rayborn took Berry home to her sister, Doris, R 125 T 1608, they both signed consent-to-search forms for the apartment, R 125 T 1609, and Marcia Berry signed her consent-to-search for the Mazda. R 125 T 1610. Bayas said he never told Berry that Wadada was a murder suspect, as he did not want to influence her judgment. R 125 T 1612.

Bayas agreed that at the time he went looking for Wadada in Broward County, he did not have probable cause to arrest him, R 125 T 1620, and agreed the only way he could get Wadada to go to the station was if he were to see Wadada commit a crime, or if Wadada agreed to go with him. R 125 T 1621.

Detective Bayas admitted that when Detective Butchko asked Tiese Caldwell if they could look around the apartment, she asked whether they had a search warrant. R 125 T 1621. Bayas said they left it at that and that there was not going to be a search of the apartment. R 125 T 1621. Bayas agreed the detectives' purpose for going to the apartment was to find Wadada; agreed Caldwell told them Wadada was not there; agreed the detectives could not legally search the apartment R 125 T 1621-1622, and agreed that when Wadada stepped out of the closet, he did not have anything in his hand and was not doing anything illegal. R 125 T 1624.

Bayas said the rustling sound made him suspicious as he was told no one else was home, R 125 T 1624; that when Wadada identified himself downstairs, the handcuffs were removed, R 125 T 1624; and that Wadada was free to go at this point, R 125 T 1626, though Butchko asked him to come to the station, and they took him to an interview room at Miami-Dade Police Headquarters. R 125 T 1626.

Bayas said he spoke with Berry before taking her to the station for a sworn statement. The notes from the conversations were placed in a police report when she was taken to the station at 10:00 or 11:00 p.m. R 125 T 1633; R 125 T 1630. Bayas said his pre-interview with Berry indicated she was not with Wadada at the time of the killing, R 125 T 1636; that he always pre-interviews witnesses before taking statements, R 125 T 1641; that he chose 3:00 p.m. on November 29, 2001, as his point of reference in questioning Berry, R 125 T 1643; and that Berry told him she was at work prior to 3:00 p.m. on November 29, 2001. R 125 T 1645.

Miami-Dade Detective Butchko testified that he was called to a homicide at 2143 Opa-Locka Boulevard, at 7:15 p.m., on November 29, 2001. R 127 T 1807. He arrived at 8:00 or 8:15 p.m., and was appointed lead detective. R 127 T 1810.

Butchko testified that Officer Michael Hufnagel, who was at the scene when Buchko arrived, R 127 T 1810, told Butchko that victim McCrae had made a statement before he died. R 127 T 1811. While at the scene, Butchko learned that another homicide had been committed there several years earlier. R 127 T 1811.

None of the witnesses Detective Butchko spoke with at the scene could give a complete description of the shooter. R 127 T 1813.

On November 30, 2001, Butchko spoke with Sergeant Bill Hellman and gathered information on the murder of Gilbert Bennett. The defendant in that case was Negus Delhall. R 127 T 1813-14. Butchko then began looking for Wadada. Hellman told Butchko Wadada's last known address was 3826 NW 52nd Avenue, Pembroke Pines, but when Butchko first went to that address, no one was at home, R 127 T 1814, and it soon turned out to be an old address for Nicola Fagan, Wadada's estranged wife, R 127 T 1815, who no longer lived there. R 127 T 1817.

Butchko obtained another address for Nicola Fagan: 10640 Washington Street, in Pembroke Pines. On December 5, 2001, Detectives Butchko, Estopinan, Bayas, and Sergeant Rayborn, went to that address, R 127 T1817-19, knocked and a black female, Tiese Caldwell, answered. R 127 T1825-1826. There were children in the apartment. R 127 T1826. Asked who lived at the address, she said Wadada Delhall. R 127 T 1825. Asked if he was home, she said no, R 127 T 1825, and that she was a visitor. R 127 T1826. Butchko asked if Caldwell was sure no one else was home and a defense hearsay objection was overruled. Butchko said Caldwell told him no one else was home, R 127 T1827, and refused a search of the premises without a warrant, allowing police in only to interview her. R 127 T1827.

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