### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-87

WADADA DELHALL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

admitting the bullet. 12

Pursuant to §90.401, Fla. Stat., evidence is relevant if it tends to prove a material fact. Pursuant to §90.402, Fla. Stat., relevant evidence is admissible. As a result, evidence regarding weapons has been upheld even where there was no testimony directly linking the weapon to a crime. See Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 855 (Fla. 1997); Council v. State, 691 So. 2d 1192, 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); Herman v. State, 396 So. 2d 222, 228-29 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Moreover, this Court has previously relied on a defendant's possession of ammunition and guns similar to a murder weapon as circumstantial evidence that the defendant committed a crime even where the murder weapon was never located. Riechmann v. State, 581 So. 2d 133, 141 (Fla. 1991).

Here, Defendant was charged not only with the murder but with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and elected to have both of those charges tried together. The .9mm bullet in question was found in a backpack together with other property related to Defendant in Berry's car. (V125. 1673-76) Berry, the other person who regularly used the car, testified that she had not placed any bullets in the car. (V124. 1499) Casings recovered from the scene showed that .9mm gun had been used in

Trial rulings regarding the admissibility of evidence are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Hudson*, 992 So. 2d at 107.

this crime and that it had been loaded with bullets from 3 different manufacturers. (V121. 1128-33) Moreover, during his confession the day before the car was searched and the bullet was found, Defendant informed Butchko that he had carried the guns he used in this crime in his backpack in Berry's car. (V127. 1898-1900) Given these circumstances, the bullet did have some tendency to show that Defendant possessed a gun and had placed it in the backpack. Thus, the bullet was relevant.

The cases relied upon by Defendant do not compel a different result. In Cooper v. State, 778 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), the bullets were not found in the defendant's possession until 9 months after the crime at a place remote from anything to do with the crime and there was no possession charge. In Sosa v. State, 639 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), the bullets were not even of the same caliber as the weapon used. In Huhn v. State, 511 So. 2d 583, 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the gun was located at least 5 months after the crime in a location unconnected with the crime and the State presented no evidence that even suggested that the gun was related to the crime. In Fugate v. State, 691 So. 2d 53, 54 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), the gun was not found at a location connected to the crime and was not connected to either the crime or the defendant. In Moore v. State, 1 So. 3d 1177 (Fla. 2009), the Court merely stated that

guns that allegedly were not the same caliber as the gun used in a crime would not be relevant.

Here, the bullet was of the same caliber as one of the guns used in this murder. Moreover, it was found in a place where Defendant had admitted storing the gun before the crime in a car that was connected with the murder a week after the murder. Given these circumstances, the present of the bullet did make it more likely that Defendant's confession was accurate and that he had committed the crime. As such, none of these cases show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the bullet. The convictions should be affirmed.

Even if the trial court had abused its discretion in denying the motion for post conviction relief, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). McCrae identified his killer as one of Negus's brothers with his dying breath. The witnesses' description of the killer and the fact that several of Negus's brother's were incarcerated limited the number of people who could be McCrae's killer to two. Berry's testimony placed Defendant in possession of a car matching the witnesses' description of the car used in the murder at the time of the murder and showed that the alibi Defendant admitted providing the police was false. Defendant confessed to the murder and in doing so provided details of the crimes that the

police could not have known at the time of the crimes. While Defendant insisted that he was forced to write the confession in his handwriting and did not make the oral statements, Defendant's testimony contradicted other every witness presented. In fact, the State only mentioned the bullet once in passing during its initial closing argument. (V131. 2422) Given these circumstances, there is no possibility that the jury convicted Defendant because of the bullet. As such, any error in the admission of the bullet was harmless.

#### VIII. JURY INSTRUCTION ON PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in the manner in which he instructed the jury about the prior violent felony. Specifically, he asserts that the trial court should not have stated that burglary was a crime of violence. However, the issue is unpreserved and the alleged error is not fundamental.

To preserve an issue regarding the giving of a jury instruction, a defendant must have raised a contemporaneous objection to the instruction on the basis asserted on appeal. Victorino v. State, 23 So. 3d 87, 100 (Fla. 2009); Hunter v. State, 8 So. 3d 1052, 1070 (Fla. 2008); State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2d 586, 588 (Fla. 2007). Here, the record does not reflect that Defendant specifically objected to the instruction that burglary

was a crime involving violence. (V139. 506-15) As such, this issue is unpreserved.

Because the issue is unpreserved, Defendant would only be entitled to relief if he showed that the error in the instruction constituted fundamental error. "Fundamental error in a jury instruction requires that the error 'reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Hunter, 8 So. 3d at 1070 (quoting Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 2008)). Here, that standard is not met.

This Court has repeatedly found that improperly instructing a jury that a prior crime was a crime of violence is harmless error where evidence was presented showing that some violence or threat of violence was used in the commission of the felony or where there was another prior crime that did involve the use of violence. Hess v. State, 794 So. 2d 1249, 1263-64 (Fla. 2001); Sweet v. State, 624 So. 2d 1138, 1142-43 (Fla. 1993); Johnson v. State, 465 So. 2d 499, 505-06 (Fla. 1985).

Here, the State presented evidence that during the burglary in question, there had been a fight between Defendant and the property owner that resulted in injuries to both parties and had resulted in charges of both burglary and strong armed robbery.

(V135. 90-94, 160, V136. 190-91) Thus, there was evidence that the burglary did involve the use or threat of violence. See Hess, 794 So. 2d at 1264; Gore v. State, 706 So. 2d 1328, 1333-34 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, the prior violent felony aggravator was also supported by Defendant's prior conviction for resisting arrest with violence, and there was amply testimony showing that Defendant attacked a police officer, attempted to take his gun and had to be subdued by several officers. (V130. 2346-64, V136. 194-97) Since the State did present evidence showing that violence was involved in the burglary and there was another crime of violence supporting the prior violent aggravator, any error in the instruction here would be harmless. As this Court has held, a harmless error is not a fundamental error. Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002).

Moreover, the State informed the jury that not all burglaries qualified as prior violent felonies in its closing. (V139. 527) Defendant's own confessions show that Defendant killed McCrae to prevent him from testifying against Negus. Once Defendant learned McCrae's name in early September, he set about finding McCrae and attempted to intimidate him to prevent him from testifying in October. He decided to kill McCrae after visiting Negus two days before the murder. He then armed himself, drove to Ray's, made sure that McCrae was there before,

left the area and returned to shoot McCrae repeatedly using two different guns without any confrontation.<sup>13</sup> Further, Defendant was on probation for his prior crimes at the time he committed this murder. As a result, the trial court properly found four aggravators applicable to this case: CCP, prior violent felony based only on the resisting arrest with violence, under a sentence of probation and hinder a governmental function. (R. 5717-27)

Further, the mitigation presented was extremely weak. While Defendant presented numerous family members before the jury, their testimony showed little than that they loved Defendant, that because of his parents' separation and their own criminal activities and deportations, his parents were not around him much and that he took charge of his brothers and cousins after his mother was arrested and deported. While Defendant attempted to portray his actions in caring for his brothers and cousins as being a positive influence, the jury learned that 3 of Defendant's brothers ended up in prison, that one of his cousin was a criminal and that the remaining brother was drifting aimlessly around the country.

Additionally, while Dr. Fisher testified at Spencer hearing

This evidence shows that the evidence was more than sufficient to sustain his convictions. *Green v. State*, 715 So. 2d 940, 943 (Fla. 1998).

that he believed that Defendant would adjust well to prison life, he admitted that Defendant had no mental illnesses or neurological deficits, that Defendant had been in two fights and been caught with a shank during his pretrial detention and that Dr. Fisher had ignored other indications that Defendant's past behavior did not indicate that he would behave well in the future. As a result, the trial court found no statutory mitigation and only gave little weight to the three nonstatutory mitigators he found: Defendant's family background, the impact of Defendant's execution on his family and ability to adjust to prison life.

Given these circumstances, it cannot be said that either the jury would not have recommended that Defendant should be sentenced to death had it not been instructed that burglary was a crime of violence. As such, any error in that instruction was not fundamental. *Hunter*, 8 So. 3d at 1070.

### IX & X. COMMENT IN CLOSING.

Defendant finally asserts that the State made improper comments during closing argument. However, the issue regarding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Moreover, the sentence is proportional. *Phillips v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1320, 1321 (Fla. 1997)(aggravators: under sentence of imprisonment, hinder governmental function, prior violent felony, CCP; nonstatutory mitigation: low IQ, poor family background, abusive childhood); *Hodges v. State*, 595 So. 2d 929, 934 (Fla. 1992)(aggravators: hinder governmental function and CCP; nonstatutory mitigation regarding childhood, educational history, work history and close family relationships).

many of the comments is unpreserved, and the comments were largely proper in context.

To preserve an issue regarding a comment in closing, it is for object the necessary а defendant to to comment contemporaneously on the grounds asserted on appeal and obtain a ruling on the objection. Gonzalez v. State, 786 So. 2d 559, 568 (Fla. 2001); Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 898-99 2000); Richardson v. State, 437 So. 2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983). Further, if a trial court sustains the defendant's objection, it is necessary for him to move for a mistrial to preserve an issue about the comment. Rose v. State, 787 So. 2d 786, 797 (Fla. 2001). When a defendant simultaneously objects and moves for a mistrial and the trial court only rules on the motion for mistrial, the only issue that is preserved is the denial of the motion for mistrial. Poole v. State, 997 So. 2d 382, 391 n.3 (Fla. 2008). A motion for mistrial is only properly granted if the comment was such as to have deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Salazar v. State, 991 So. 2d 364, 371-72 (Fla. 2008). When an issue regarding a comment is not preserved for review, this Court will only consider the issue if the comment constitutes fundamental error. Hayward, 24 So. 3d at 40-41. In demonstrating fundamental error, a defendant has a "high burden" of showing that the error was such that it "reaches down into

the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." *Id.* at 41.

Moreover, attorneys are permitted wide latitude in arguing the facts and law to the jury and may draw logical inferences in doing so. *Smith v. State*, 7 So. 3d 473, 509 (Fla. 2009). Moreover, this Court has recognized that comments made in fair reply to a defense argument are proper. *Pagan v. State*, 830 So. 2d 792, 809 (Fla. 2002).

Applying these principals here, Defendant is entitled to no relief. Defendant suggests that by using the word dangerous, the State implied that he would be a danger in the future. However, Defendant ignores that the only two times he objected to the use of the word, the trial court sustained the objection. (V139. 523, 530, 559, 560) As such, the only issue that is preserved for review is the trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial after the argument concluded. (V139. 562) However, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying that motion. The State used the word dangerous to describe Defendant's actions in planning this crime to eliminate a witness and to assertthat fact of his prior violent conviction for resisting an officer showed that the prior violent felony, hinder a governmental function and CCP aggravators were entitled to great

weight. (V139. 523, 530, 559, 560) The State never suggested that Defendant would be dangerous in the future. *Id.* As this Court has noted, such comments about past dangerousness are not sufficient to deprive a defendant of a fair trial. *Knight v. State*, 746 So. 2d 423, 431 n.10 (Fla. 1999). As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. *Salazar*, 991 So. 2d at 371-72.

The same is true of Defendant's complaint about the use of the word violent. Defendant only objected to the use of the word violent three times. (V139. 522, 536, 545) However, on each of these occasions the State was referring to Defendant's prior violent felonies. Id. Since the State was referring to the prior violent felony aggravator on these occasions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the State's comments about that aggravator. Smith, 7 So. 3d at 509. The same is true of a number of the instances where the State used the word and Defendant did not object. (V139. 527, 528, 529) Further, the one remaining instance in which the State used the word violent and Defendant did not object to the word, the State was again referring to Defendant's past behavior and was suggesting that it did not result from being left in charge of his brothers after his mother's arrest and deportation. (V139. 542) As such, this was a fair reply to Defendant's assertion that he killed McCrae merely because he was forced to care for his brothers and not an assertion of future dangerousness. *Pagan*, 830 So. 2d at 809. Since these comments were proper, they do not constitute fundamental error.

Further, Defendant's suggestion that the State's comment about his effect on others concerned his potential for future dangerous is based on an unobjected to comment that is taken out of context. (V139. 555-56) The State did not comment about Defendant's alleged effect on others as evidence of aggravation. Instead, the State was responding to Defendant's argument that he was entitled to mitigation because he had been and continued to be a positive influence on those around him. (V139. 555-56) As Defendant had presented numerous witnesses to claim that he had been a positive influence on the lives of others, the State's comment was merely a comment on the evidence. As such, the comment was proper and does not amount to fundamental error.

Similarly, while Defendant insists that the use of the word lawless was improper, Defendant only objected to the use of the word once and he obtained no ruling from the court. (V139. 522, 544) As such, the issue is unpreserved. *Richardson*, 437 So. 2d at 1094. Moreover, the comments do not constitute fundamental error. While Defendant suggests that these comments concerned future dangerousness, each of these comments referred to

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